THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable L. Casey Manning

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-000456

---

**RECEIVED**

MAY 31 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Zachary M. Merritt as Personal Representative of the  
Estate of James A. Merritt, Jr., ..... Respondent

v.

Merritt, Webb, Wilson & Caruso, ..... Appellant

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Demetri K. Koutrakos, SC Bar No. 11318  
Ian T. Duggan, SC Bar No. 80074  
Harry A. Dixon, SC Bar No. 103509  
Callison Tighe & Robinson, LLC  
1812 Lincoln St, Suite 200  
PO Box 1390  
Columbia, SC 29202-1390  
Telephone No. (803)404-6900

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING AN AMENDMENT TO AN OPERATING AGREEMENT SUPERSEDED THE ARBITRATION PROVISION IN THE OPERATING AGREEMENT.**
- II. **WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THE ARBITRATION PROVISION IN THE OPERATING AGREEMENT DID NOT COVER THE CLAIMS ALLEGED BY RESPONDENT.**
- III. **WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO DISMISS THE CASE, OR, ALTERNATIVELY, REFUSING TO STAY ALL CLAIMS PENDING ARBITRATION.**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 18, 2018, Zachary M. Merritt, as personal representative of the Estate of James A. Merritt, Jr. (“Respondent”), filed his original Complaint. R.\_\_\_\_. On July 2, 2018, the law firm of Merritt, Webb, Wilson & Caruso, PLLC, (“Appellant”) filed its first “Motion to Dismiss, or Alternatively, to Stay and to Compel Arbitration.” R.\_\_\_\_. On October 3, 2018, Respondent filed a Memorandum in Opposition to this motion. On October 4, 2018, Appellant replied to that Memorandum. R.\_\_\_\_.

Subsequently, on October 8, 2018, Respondent filed an Amended Complaint seeking a declaratory judgment and seeking other relief. R.\_\_\_\_.

On October 18, 2018, Appellant again filed a Motion to Dismiss, or Alternatively, to Stay and to Compel Arbitration, this time in response to Respondent’s Amended Complaint. (“Motion to Compel Arbitration.”) R.\_\_\_\_. On January 10, 2019, the trial court held a hearing on the Appellant’s Motion to Compel Arbitration. R.\_\_\_\_.

On January 25, 2019, the circuit court entered an order denying Appellant’s Motion to Compel Arbitration. R.\_\_\_\_. On February 1, 2019, Appellant timely filed a Motion to Reconsider

its Motion to Compel Arbitration. R. \_\_\_\_\_. The trial court denied this motion, in otherwise identical orders, on February 25, 2019, R.\_\_\_\_\_ and February 27, 2019. R.\_\_\_\_\_.

On March 19, 2019, Appellant timely filed and served its notice of appeal.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The construction of an agreement to arbitrate, like any contract, is a matter of law that the court reviews *de novo*. *McMillan v. Gold Kist, Inc.*, 353 S.C. 353, 358, 577 S.E.2d 482, 484 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing *Watts v. Monarch Builders, Inc.*, 272 S.C. 517, 252 S.E.2d 889 (1979)). “Whether a party has agreed to arbitrate an issue is a matter of contract interpretation.” *Landers v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp.*, 402 S.C. 100, 108, 739 S.E.2d 209, 213 (2013).

Parties can refer questions of arbitrability to an arbitrator. *Henry Schein, Inc. v. Archer & White Sales, Inc.*, 139 S. Ct. 524, 529, 202 L. Ed. 2d 480 (2019); *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 596, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001). Arbitrability determinations are subject to *de novo* review. *Wilson v. Willis*, \_\_\_ S.C. \_\_\_, No. 2016-001512, 2019 WL 1549924, at \*3 (S.C. Apr. 10, 2019); *Aiken v. World Fin. Corp. of S.C.*, 373 S.C. 144, 148, 644 S.E.2d 705, 707 (2007).

The party resisting arbitration bears the burden of proving that the claims at issue are unsuitable for arbitration. Nevertheless, a trial court’s findings of fact will be reversed if no evidence reasonably supports these findings. *Aiken*, 373 S.C. at 148; *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 379, 759 S.E.2d 727, 731 (2014).

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

#### **INTRODUCTION AND GENERAL FACTUAL BACKGROUND**

This arbitration dispute arises from a disagreement between Respondent, the personal representative of the Estate of James Merritt, Jr. (“Jim Merritt”), and Appellant, Jim Merritt’s former law firm, over the value of Respondent’s interest in Appellant. Upon joining Appellant in

2006, Jim Merritt signed an amendment to the firm’s operating agreement that, as relevant here, added him as a member and amended a portion of the operating agreement pertaining to valuation of a member’s interest if a member decided to leave the firm. The amendment did not change—or even address—the arbitration provision in the firm’s Operating Agreement. Moreover, the arbitration provision prevented civil actions against Appellant to determine any “rights, liabilities, obligations, valuations, or payment plans” and required resolution of these disputes through arbitration.

Despite this binding arbitration provision, the trial court denied Appellant’s Motion to Compel arbitration after Respondent filed an action in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas asserting various claims based on Respondent’s interest in Appellant. The trial court held the buy-out valuation provision in the 2006 Amendment to the operating agreement superseded the arbitration provision and that the arbitration provision would not cover this dispute if it applied. The trial court erred in denying the motion to compel arbitration, and this Court should reverse and direct the entry of an order compelling arbitration and dismissing Respondent’s case.

#### DETAILED FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Prior to his death, James Merritt Jr., (“Jim Merritt”) a lawyer, and the decedent in this case, was a member of Appellant. Appellant is a law firm operating as a professional limited liability company organized and existing under the laws of the State of North Carolina. Motion to Compel Arbitration, ¶ 1, R. \_\_\_; *Id.* at Exh. A, R. \_\_\_. It also has an office in Columbia, South Carolina. Amended Complaint, ¶ 5, R. \_\_\_. At the time he joined the firm, Appellant had an operating agreement in place that was originally implemented on June 11, 2002 (“Operating Agreement”). Appellant’s October 18, 2018, Motion to Dismiss, or Alternatively, to Stay and to Compel

Arbitration (“Motion to Dismiss”), ¶1. *Id.* at Exh. A. R\_\_\_\_. The Operating Agreement included the following arbitration provision (“Arbitration Provision”):

The interests of the Members in the company shall be personal property for all purposes. Legal title to all Company assets shall be held in the name of the Company. Neither any Member nor a successor, representative, or assign of any Member shall have the right, title, or interest in or to any Company property or the right to partition any Property owned by the Company, other than the right to initiate an arbitration proceeding pursuant to the rules of the American Arbitration Association Rules for determination and payment of a partnership assets and payment of a partnership buyout as further provided in this agreement. **It is explicitly agreed by and between the parties that no civil action shall be maintained against an individual or the company as to the determination of any rights, liabilities, obligations, valuations, or payment plans, and that all matters will be resolved by arbitration** and that the arbitration award will be enforced pursuant to the North Carolina Rules of General Statutes as to registration and enforcement of arbitration awards.

Motion to Dismiss, Exh. A, ¶1.7 R.\_\_\_\_ (emphasis added).

The Operating Agreement also stated that it “shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of North Carolina without giving effect to the conflicts of laws provisions therein.” *Id.* at ¶10.8, R.\_\_\_\_.

On August 31, 2006, the then-members of Appellant drafted a document electing and admitting Jim Merritt and another attorney as members of the firm. Motion to Dismiss, Exh. B R.\_\_\_\_. Styled the “Members’ Agreement for the Election and Admission of New Members to Browne, Flebotte, Wilson & Webb, PLLC<sup>1</sup> and Amendment of the Firm’s Operating Agreement” (the “2006 Amendment”), this document stated in relevant part:

[To] the extent anything in the PLLC’s existing Operating Agreement, as previously amended, conflicts with any provision of this Agreement, the terms of this Agreement prevail and control . . . [and] any conflicting terms are deleted from the Operating Agreement and replaced by the terms of this Agreement.

*Id.* at § II.

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellant’s former name.

The 2006 Amendment also contained a provision that stated,

Should any Member decide to leave or dissociate themselves from the Firm, their interest in the Firm will be determined by valuation of the Firm as an on-going concern. They will receive their share of the value of the Firm less their debts to the Firm. The value of the Firm will be determined by third party appraisal of both the Fair Market Value of all Firm assets less the Fair Market Value of all firm liabilities. A further explanation of departing Member's departing rights of valuation will be set forth in a further Amendment. There is no lump sum, artificially or arbitrarily determined "buyout amount."

*Id.* at § IV.E. R. \_\_\_\_

On July 12, 2017, while still a member of Appellant, Jim Merritt tragically passed away.

Amended Complaint, ¶ 10, R. \_\_\_\_.

On October 8, 2018, Respondent filed an action in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas seeking 1.) a declaration that Appellant was required to pay Respondent the fair market value of his share of Appellant and wages accruing as a result of his membership in Appellant; 2.) relief from Appellant's alleged "breach" of a statutory requirement to purchase Respondent's shares in Appellant; 3.) payment of the unpaid wages and benefits accruing as a result of Respondent's membership in Appellant; and 4.) the return of personal property and personal effects within the custody or control of Respondent. Amended Complaint, R. \_\_\_\_.

Appellant then moved to compel arbitration, primarily arguing that the Arbitration Provision within the Operating Agreement applied to Respondent's claims.

The trial court denied Appellant's motion to compel arbitration on two grounds. First, the court held that the 2006 Amendment, "accomplished in August 2006 when Jim Merritt joined the firm," "omit[ted] any requirement that" disputes related to "valuation of a member's interest and the valuation rights of a departed member . . . be determined in arbitration." Order Denying Motion to Compel Arbitration, p. 5, R. \_\_\_\_ . Second, the court held that even assuming the "arbitration provision in the Original Operating Agreement remains in effect, the provision does not compel

arbitration of Plaintiff's claims because the claims are based upon statutory law, not the Original Operating Agreement." *Id.* After the trial court denied Appellant's timely filed Motion to Reconsider (R. \_\_\_), Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal.<sup>2</sup> R. \_\_\_.

## ARGUMENTS

### I. A Binding, Valid, and Enforceable Arbitration Agreement Exists.

#### A. The 2006 Amendment Did Not Contradict or Supersede the Arbitration Provision.

The 2006 Amendment provided for a change in the valuation method to be used for members electing to leave the law firm. It did not contradict or address the Arbitration Provision in the Operating Agreement in any way, and therefore the Arbitration Provision applies between Appellant and Respondent.

Unless the parties have contracted otherwise, the Federal Arbitration Act (FAA) applies in federal or state court to any arbitration agreement involving interstate commerce. *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 538, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363 (2001). Under the FAA and both North Carolina and South Carolina law, ordinary contract principles apply to determine whether the Arbitration Provision is enforceable. *See* 9 U.S.C. § 2 ("A written provision in . . . a contract evidencing a transaction involving commerce to settle by arbitration a controversy thereafter arising out of such contract or transaction, or the refusal to perform the whole or any part thereof . . . shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract."); N.C.G.S. Ann. § 1-569.6 ("An agreement contained in a record to submit to arbitration any existing or subsequent controversy arising between the parties

---

<sup>2</sup> An order denying a motion to compel arbitration made is immediately appealable. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-200(a)(1); *Towles v. United HealthCare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 35, 524 S.E.2d 839, 842-43 (Ct. App. 1999).

to the agreement is valid, enforceable, and irrevocable except upon a ground that exists at law or in equity for revoking a contract.”); S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-10(a) (“A written agreement to submit any existing controversy to arbitration or a provision in a written contract to submit to arbitration any controversy thereafter arising between the parties is valid, enforceable and irrevocable, save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract.”).

Moreover, South Carolina law requires that a court compel arbitration when a party refuses to arbitrate, and if the parties dispute whether an agreement to arbitrate exists, then the court will determine the issue. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-20 (a) (“On application of a party showing an [arbitration] agreement . . . and the opposing party's refusal to arbitrate, the court shall order the parties to proceed with arbitration, but if the opposing party denies the existence of the agreement to arbitrate, the court shall proceed summarily to the determination of the issue so raised and shall order arbitration if found for the moving party, otherwise, the application shall be denied.”).<sup>3</sup> Arbitration agreements enjoy a strong presumption of validity in federal and state courts. *Dean*, 408 S.C. 371. South Carolina has a strong policy favoring resolution of disputes through alternative

---

<sup>3</sup> Appellant’s Operating Agreement states that it “shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of North Carolina without giving effect to the conflicts of laws provisions thereof.” Motion to Compel Arbitration, Exh. B, ¶ 10.8, R\_\_\_. However, this Court need not decide any choice of law issue in this case because such a determination is not necessary to resolve this appeal. South Carolina and North Carolina law are substantially similar in their treatment of contract interpretation and questions of arbitrability. And these laws are not in conflict with the FAA. *Munoz*, 343 S.C. at 538 (“Unless the parties have contracted to the contrary, the FAA applies in federal or state court to any arbitration agreement regarding a transaction that in fact involves interstate commerce, regardless of whether or not the parties contemplated an interstate transaction.”); *Burke Cty. Pub. Sch. Bd. of Ed. v. Shaver P'ship*, 303 N.C. 408, 422, 279 S.E.2d 816, 825 (1981) (holding that even when there is a “contractual provision calling for application of North Carolina law. The Federal Arbitration Act, by virtue of the Supremacy Clause, is . . . part of North Carolina law.”) *See also*, *King v. Bryant*, 225 N.C. App. 340, 344, 737 S.E.2d 802, 806 (2013) (“If the FAA is applicable, courts must apply it, even in the face of contractual provisions calling for the application of state law.”) Taking the lower court’s example though, where appropriate, citations are made to both South and North Carolina law in this brief.

dispute resolution, including arbitration. *C-Sculptures, LLC v. Brown*, 403 S.C. 53, 56, 742 S.E.2d 359, 361 (2013).

“Whether a party has agreed to arbitrate an issue is a matter of contract interpretation.” *Landers*, 402 S.C. at 108. ““When deciding whether the parties agreed to arbitrate a certain matter . . . courts generally . . . should apply ordinary state-law principles that govern the formation of contracts.”” *Id.* (quoting *First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan*, 514 U.S. 938, 944, 115 S. Ct. 1920, 131 L. Ed. 2d 985 (1995)).

Neither party disputes the existence of the Operating Agreement or the 2006 Amendment – rather, what is in dispute is the interpretation of these documents. Under either North Carolina or South Carolina law, this Court should consider Section IV.E of the 2006 Amendment, not in isolation, but in conjunction with the other written instruments in this case—principally, the Operating Agreement. *Koon v. Fares*, 379 S.C. 150, 155, 666 S.E.2d 230, 233 (2008) (citing *Litchfield Co. of S.C. v. Kiriakides*, 290 S.C. 220, 223, 349 S.E.2d 344, 346 (Ct. App. 1986) (“The purpose of the rules of contract construction is to ascertain the intention of the parties as gathered from the contents of the entire document and not from any particular provision within the contract.”)).

In construing the 2006 Amendment to the Operating Agreement (Motion to Compel Arbitration, Exh. B, R. \_\_\_), the lower court found:

Section IV.E of the Amended Operating Agreement omits any requirement that . . . valuations and rights [of members to the Appellant] be determined in arbitration. Therefore, the Amended Operating agreement does not require arbitration of disputes relating to the valuation of a former member’s interest. Pursuant to Section II of the Amended Operating Agreement, the superseding terms of the Amended Operating Agreement control.

Order Denying Motion to Compel Arbitration, p. 5, R.\_\_\_\_. As such, the court held “Plaintiff’s claims are not subject to an arbitration agreement, and the Court cannot compel Plaintiff to arbitrate his claims.” *Id.* This conclusion was error.

Like any contract, the construction of an agreement to arbitrate is a matter of law. *McMillan*, 353 S.C. at 358 (citing *Watts*, 272 S.C. 517). In *Plaza Dev. Servs. v. Joe Harden Builder, Inc.*, 294 S.C. 430, 434, 365 S.E.2d 231, 233 (Ct. App. 1988), this Court examined the impact of an amendment to two parties’ original agreement calling for arbitration. In that case, this Court affirmed a trial court’s grant of a motion to compel arbitration filed by Joe Harden Builder, Inc. (referred to as “JHB”), over the objection of appellant Plaza, a real estate developer. This Court found that the language of a second agreement between the parties, while perhaps modifying some parts of the original contract, left “the [original] contract intact” and was “silent as to arbitration.” *Plaza Development Services*, 294 S.C. at 433–34. Therefore, the Court held that the “arbitration clause of the [original] contract applied” and that “the trial judge was correct in granting the motion to compel arbitration.” *Id.*

Moreover, *Plaza Development Services* addressed a similar fact pattern: a dispute arose between JHB and Plaza, and JHB filed a demand for arbitration with the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”) pursuant to an existing contractual agreement between JHB and Plaza. *Id.* 294 S.C. at 431–32. “Before the disputes could reach the arbitration stage, they were resolved by a settlement agreement between Plaza and JHB.” *Id.* That settlement agreement contained the following language:

The parties agree that their performance under this agreement is a final and complete settlement of the final amount due under the contract and neither party shall make any additional claims thereof. Except as provided for herein, the Contract shall remain in full force, virtue and effect.

Provided that JHB is not in default of the Contract on this agreement . . .

The parties hereto agree that this escrow agreement in no way limits or diminishes JHB's warranty or responsibility to perform under the Contract.

*Plaza Development Services*, 294 S.C. at 433. Subsequently, a subcontractor of JHB, Baker Masonry, Inc., initiated an arbitration proceeding against JHB. JHB then demanded arbitration against Plaza and asked the arbitration panel to consolidate the cases. *Plaza Development Services*, 294 S.C. at 431–32. Plaza then initiated an action in circuit court, seeking *inter alia* an injunction to enjoin JHB from proceeding with the arbitration against Plaza. *Id.* That motion was denied, and Plaza appealed. *Id.*

Plaza asserted on appeal that the settlement agreement entered into between JHB and Plaza (an agreement that omitted any mention of arbitration) made the original agreement to arbitrate inapplicable between JHB and Plaza. In reaching its decision, this Court relied on a familiar rule of contract interpretation:

Where instruments are entered into by the same parties at different times but relate to the same subject matter, the instruments will be construed together to determine the entire agreement between the parties.

*Plaza Development Services*, 294 S.C. at 433–34 (citing to *Bishop Realty & Rentals, Inc. v. Perk, Inc.*, 292 S.C. 182, 355 S.E.2d 298 (Ct. App. 1987)). With this precedent in mind, this Court proceeded to “constru[e] the two instruments together,” held the arbitration provision survived the subsequent agreement, and affirmed the trial court’s decision in favor of the party seeking arbitration. *Id.*

This Court reached the same conclusion in *Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi*, 358 S.C. 78, 594 S.E.2d 485 (Ct. App. 2004), and held that a trial court correctly analyzed documents memorializing “one transaction with a series of amendments” by “constru[ing] all the various writings of the parties as one contract.” *Ellie, Inc.*, 358 S.C. at 94. In reaching this conclusion, the Court stated:

In South Carolina, two contracts executed at different times relating to the same subject matter, entered into by the same parties, are to be construed as one contract

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