STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
SFP 16 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2018-CP-40-2730
Appellate Case No. 2019-000456

Zachary M. Merritt, as personal representative of
the Estate of James A. Merritt, Jr.,

Respondent,

v.

Merritt, Webb, Wilson & Caruso, PLLC,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Matthew Richardson (S.C. Bar 15647)
Lucy Dinkins (S.C. Bar 101177)
Wyche, P.A.
801 Gervais Street, Suite B
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Telephone: 803-254-6542
Facsimile: 803-254-6544
Email: mrichardson@wyche.com
ldinkins@wyche.com

Eric B. Amstutz (S.C. Bar No. 0363)

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

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court correctly held that Respondent’s claims are not subject to an arbitration agreement because the arbitration provision in Appellant’s Original Operating Agreement has been superseded by Appellant’s Amended Operating Agreement.

The arbitration provision upon which Appellant relies is contained in Section 1.7 of Appellant’s Original Operating Agreement, which was adopted in June 2002 before Mr. Merritt joined Appellant. (*See* July Motion to Dismiss, Ex. A) (R. pp. 24-51) Section 1.7, titled “Nature of Member’s Interests,” clarifies that members’ interests are personal property, sets forth how company assets are titled, and governs how proceedings for the determination and payment of a partnership buyout and related valuations are to be conducted. (*Id.* § 1.7) (R. p. 27) Section 1.7 states in relevant part:

1.7 *Nature of Members’ Interests.* The interests of the Members in the company shall be personal property for all purposes. Legal title to all Company assets shall be held in the name of the Company. Neither any Member nor a successor, representative, or assign of any Member, shall have any right, title, or interest in or to any Company property or the right to partition any Property owned by the Company, other than the right to initiate an arbitration proceeding pursuant to the rules of the American Arbitration Association Rules **for determination and payment of a partnership assets [sic] and payment of a partnership buyout** as further provided in this agreement. It is expressly agreed by and between the parties

that no civil action shall be maintained against an individual or the company **as to the determination of any rights, liabilities, obligations, valuations, or payment plans**, and that all matters will be resolved by arbitration

(*Id.* (emphasis added)) (R. p. 27) Read in context and in a common sense manner, the arbitration provision in Section 1.7 applies to disputes regarding partnership assets and a member's interest in the firm only. *See, e.g., Moser v. Gosnell*, 334 S.C. 425, 430, 513 S.E.2d 123, 125 (Ct. App. 1999) (explaining that courts must give effect to the intention of the parties in construing contracts and that contract language must be interpreted according to its "plain, ordinary, and popular meaning").

Section I of the Amended Operating Agreement, which was adopted in August 2006 when Mr. Merritt joined Appellant, provides:

It is the unanimous intent of the Members to alter, amend and change the PLLC's [Appellant] current Operating Agreement as previously amended so as to elect new members, change and redefine PLLC governance and other changes in the PLLC. . . . It is also the unanimous intent of the Members that any change to the PLLC's Operating Agreement that is necessary to accomplish this intent and to put into effect the specific provisions noted below is and will be done even if not specifically noted below.

(July Motion to Dismiss, Ex. B, § D) (R. p. 53) Section II states that "[t]o the extent anything in the PLLC's existing Operating Agreement, as previously amended, conflicts with any provision of this Agreement, the terms of this Agreement prevail and control" (*Id.* § II) (R. p. 53) Section II further dictates that "any conflicting terms are deleted from the Operating Agreement and replaced by the terms of this Agreement." (*Id.*) (R. p. 53) Thus, Appellant's members, including Mr. Merritt, intended to change and did change Appellant's Original Operating Agreement by adopting the Amended Operating Agreement, and the Amended Operating Agreement supersedes any conflicting terms in the Original Operating Agreement, regardless of

whether the change is specifically noted in the Amended Operating Agreement. (*See id.* §§ I, II) (R. p. 53)

Section IV.E of the Amended Operating Agreement governs the valuation of a dissociated member's interest in Appellant. It provides in full:

Should any Member decide to leave or disassociate themselves from the Firm their interest in the Firm will be determined by valuation of the Firm as an on-going concern. They will receive their share of the value of the Firm less their debts to the Firm. The value of the Firm will be determined by third party appraisal of both the Fair Market Value of all Firm assets less the Fair Market Value of all Firm liabilities. A further explanation of departing Member's rights of valuation will be set forth in a further Amendment. There is no lump sum, artificially or arbitrarily determined "buyout" amount.

(*Id.* § IV.E) (R. p. 55) Thus, this Section of the Amended Operating Agreement dictates a procedure and method for the valuation of a departing member's interest in Appellant. Notably, neither this Section nor any other section of the Amended Operating Agreement contains an arbitration provision. (*See id.*) (R. pp. 52-56)

Because Section IV.E of the Amended Operating Agreement and Section 1.7 of the Original Operating Agreement both address partnership buyouts and the determination of the value of a member's interest in Appellant, the circuit court correctly held that Section IV.E supersedes Section 1.7 with respect to such matters. (*See Order Denying Motion to Dismiss*, p. 5) (R. p. 7) Pursuant to the plain language of Section II of the Amended Operating Agreement, the terms of Section IV.E prevail and control. Section IV.E establishes a new procedure and method for valuing a departing member's ownership interest, and it omits any requirement that such valuations be determined in arbitration. Therefore, the Amended Operating Agreement does not require arbitration of disputes relating to the valuation of a former member's interest, and, with regard to such disputes, it supersedes the arbitration provision in the Original Operating Agreement. Mr. Merritt agreed to be bound by Appellant's Operating Agreement *as modified* by the Amended

Operating Agreement. (*See* July Motion to Dismiss, Ex. C, ¶ 1) (R. p. 58) Thus, Mr. Merritt did not agree to the superseded arbitration provision in the Original Operating Agreement. The circuit court correctly held that Respondent’s claims are not subject to any arbitration provision.

Appellant maintains that the Court should consider Section IV.E of the Amended Operating Agreement in conjunction with the Original Operating Agreement and asserts, in conclusory fashion, that Section IV.E does not change the arbitration provision in the Original Operating Agreement. (Appellant’s Initial Brief, pp. 14-18) Respondent agrees that the Amended Operating Agreement and the Original Operating Agreement should be construed together. As further explained below, however, the two documents read together make clear that the Amended Operating Agreement replaces the Original Operating Agreement with regard to the buyout valuation issue in this case.

Appellant argues that, with respect to the valuation issue, the Amended Operating Agreement simply changes the valuation methodology to a “going concern” approach from a “book value” approach, which Appellant argues was mandated by Schedule II to the Original Operating Agreement. (*Id.* p. 17) Schedule II to the Original Operating Agreement, however, was and remains non-binding, for it explicitly states it is “[f]or discussion purposes only; there are many possible models.” (July Motion to Dismiss, Ex. A, Schedule II) (R. p. 47)

More significantly, the Amended Operating Agreement does not just specify the valuation methodology to be applied in an ownership interest buy-out. It also requires that the valuation be conducted by a third party appraiser, not by an arbitrator. This inconsistency between the Amended Operating Agreement and the Original Operating Agreement as to the valuation decision-maker further makes clear that the more recent document (the Amended Operating

Agreement) replaces the former document (the Original Operating Agreement) with regard to the issue of valuing Mr. Merritt's ownership interest.

Appellant also relies upon *Plaza Development Services v. Joe Harden Builder, Inc.*, 294 S.C. 430, 365 S.E.2d 231 (Ct. App. 1988), to suggest that the arbitration provision is not superseded by the Amended Operating Agreement. The facts in *Plaza Development*, however, are distinguishable from the facts of this case. In *Plaza Development*, the South Carolina Court of Appeals considered whether a party was required to arbitrate pursuant to an arbitration provision contained in a construction contract when the parties subsequently entered into a settlement agreement over a payment dispute that did not include an arbitration provision. *Id.* The court explicitly held that the settlement agreement did not address or concern the dispute at issue in the case, and the court stated that the original contract remained in full force and effect except as provided in the settlement agreement. *Id.* at 433, 365 S.E.2d at 233 (“The dispute is actually over who is responsible for the defective brickwork, an issue not addressed by the settlement agreement.”)

Here, the Amended Operating Agreement does address and concern the very dispute now before the Court—the rights of a dissociated member and the valuation of that member's ownership interest—and omits any arbitration requirement. (*See* July Motion to Dismiss, Ex. B, § IV.E) (R. p. 55) Additionally, the Amended Operating Agreement specifically provides that its terms prevail and control over conflicting terms in the Original Operating Agreement and that the Original Operating Agreement is changed to effectuate the provisions of the Amended Operating Agreement, even if such changes are not specifically noted. (*See id.* §§ I, II) (R. p. 53) When the Amended and the Original Operating Agreements are read together, as Appellant urges, it is apparent that Section IV.E of the Amended Operating Agreement establishes an entirely new

procedure for determining the value of a departing member's interest that displaces the procedure set forth in the Original Operating Agreement. (*Compare* July Motion to Dismiss, Ex. A *with* Ex. B) (R. pp. 24-56)

Additionally, Section IV.E provides that "further explanation of departing Member's rights of valuation will be set forth in a further Amendment."² (July Motion to Dismiss, Ex. B, § IV.E) (R. p. 55) This expression of a plan to create additional amendments further detailing departing members' rights of valuation unequivocally reveals the members' intention to institute through the Amended Operating Agreement a different procedure for the determination of departing members' rights from the one set forth in the Original Operating Agreement, a new procedure that does not involve arbitration.

Contrary to Appellant's suggestion, the circuit court's finding that the Amended Operating Agreement supersedes the arbitration provision in the Original Operating Agreement does not rest on a rule that omission in the Amended Operating Agreement necessarily equals replacement. The Amended Operating Agreement does not supersede the arbitration provision solely because it omits an arbitration clause or omits to reference the Original Operating Agreement's arbitration provision. The Amended Operating Agreement supersedes the Original Operating Agreement's arbitration provision because the Amended Operating Agreement creates an entirely new third party appraisal process for valuation that is incompatible with arbitration determining valuation. Furthermore, and as explained above, the Amended Operating Agreement clarifies that it is the "unanimous intent of the Members that any change to the [Original Operating Agreement] that is necessary . . . to put into effect" the provisions set forth in the Amended Operating Agreement "is

² As far as Respondent is aware, no such further amendment was adopted. Respondent, however, has not had the benefit of discovery in this case.

and will be done even if not specifically noted below.” (*Id.* § I) (R. p. 53) Under these express terms of the Amended Operating Agreement, it is immaterial that the Amended Operating Agreement fails expressly to state that the arbitration provision in the Original Operating Agreement is superseded.

Appellant also argues that Section IV.E of the Amended Operating Agreement is inapplicable to this case because that section applies only to voluntary decisions to leave the firm, not involuntary deaths. In making this argument, Appellant parses the language in Section IV.E and reaches a conclusion that is unsupported by a common sense interpretation of the provision. The opening sentence of Section IV.E, upon which Appellant relies, states: “Should any Member decide to leave or dissociate themselves from the Firm their interest in the Firm will be determined by valuation of the Firm as an on-going concern.” (*Id.* § IV.E) (R. p. 55) Pursuant to this language, the provision applies to members who either decide to leave the firm or who become dissociated from the firm for any reason. Mr. Merritt became dissociated from the firm by death. Moreover, Section IV.E later references “departing Member’s rights of valuation” without making any distinction between voluntary and involuntary departures, thereby clarifying it applies to all departing members.³ (*Id.*) (R. p. 55) Section IV.E therefore applies to the valuation and buy-out of Mr. Merritt’s interest in the Law Firm.

For the reasons set forth above, the circuit court correctly held that the Amended Operating Agreement supersedes the arbitration provision in the Original Operating Agreement and that Respondent’s valuation and buy-out claims are not subject to an arbitration agreement.

³ Respondent offers no rationale for why Section IV.E would provide one valuation process for voluntary departures and a different one for involuntary departures, which further supports reading Section IV.E as applying to all kinds of departures.

II. The circuit court correctly held that, even if the arbitration provision in the Original Operating Agreement were still in effect, it is inapplicable to Respondent's claims because such claims are based upon statutory law, not the Original or Amended Operating Agreement.

Respondent's Complaint asserts causes of action for declaratory judgment, breach of the statutory requirement to purchase a departing members' ownership interest, payment of wages, and claim and delivery/replevin. (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 18-36) (R. pp. 73-75) These causes of action are based upon S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-10, *et seq.* and N.C.G.S. §§ 55B-7(b), 57D-2-02, 57D-3-02, 95-25.22, 1-472, respectively. The Complaint neither asserts a cause of action for breach of Appellant's Original or Amended Operating Agreement nor seeks enforcement of any provision of either Agreement. (*See* Am. Compl.) (R. pp. 71-77)

Thus, Respondent's claims are entirely separate and independent from the Original and Amended Operating Agreements. Respondent would be entitled to recover the value of Mr. Merritt's ownership interest and on his other claims regardless of the terms of Appellant's operating agreement and regardless of whether Appellant even had a written operating agreement. The circuit court correctly held that the arbitration provision in the Original Operating Agreement is inapplicable to this action and fails to provide a basis for compelling Respondent to submit his statutory claims to arbitration. *See, e.g., Zabinski*, 346 S.C. at 596, 553 S.E.2d at 118 ("Arbitration is a matter of contract, and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed to submit." (citations omitted)).

Appellant erroneously argues that the arbitration provision in the Original Operating Agreement applies to Respondent's statutory claims because the provision is broadly-worded, and, according to Appellant, there is a significant relationship between the statutory claims and Appellant's operating agreement. Assuming that the arbitration provision remains in effect, which

Respondent denies, it is not broadly-worded and stands in contrast to arbitration provisions that have been found to be broadly-worded.

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